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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


The Missouri Dental Board filed a complaint on April 19, 1999, seeking to discipline the dentist license of John D. Gardner, D.D.S., based on a conviction for filing a false Medicaid claim.  Nanci R. Wisdom represented the Board.  John L. Oliver, Jr., with Oliver, Oliver &  Waltz, represented Gardner.  We convened a hearing on the complaint on March 20, 2000.  The Board filed the last written argument on August 15, 2000.  

Findings of Fact

1. Gardner holds a Missouri dentist license.  That license is current and was so at all relevant times.  Gardner practices dentistry in Caruthersville, Missouri.  

2. Gardner did not actively supervise billing procedures in his dental office, but delegated that authority to his staff.  Medicaid denied a claim for excising a granuloma, which is a chronic infection at the base of a tooth’s root.  On January 6, 1995, Gardner’s staff resubmitted 

the claim, but accidentally used the code for excising a radicular cyst, which is a lesion in the bone at the base of a tooth’s root (the billing error).  When Medicaid granted the resubmitted claim, Gardner’s staff caught the billing error and corrected it.  Gardner did not know about the billing error until after it was corrected.  The difference between the amount paid for a granuloma and the amount paid for a radicular cyst was $175.

3. As a result of Gardner’s unusually high number of billings for radicular cysts, he was indicted on 47 counts of violating 42 U.S.C. section 1320a-7b(a)(2)(ii) (Medicaid fraud) and four counts of violating 18 U.S.C. section 1341 (mail fraud).  As a condition for the dismissal of  that indictment, Gardner was required to plead guilty to a superceding indictment charging one count of Medicaid fraud based on the billing error, and to admit that he knowingly and willfully committed the billing error (the plea bargain).  Gardner was found guilty on his guilty plea under the superceding indictment.  The court imposed sentence of three years’ probation and a $5,000 fine.  United States v. Gardner, No. 1:96CR00007CDP (E.D. Mo. July 1, 1997) (amended judgment Aug. 13, 1997).

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint.  Section 332.321.2.
  The Board has the burden to prove that Gardner has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  The Board cites Gardner’s plea bargain. 

I.  Guilty Plea

The Board argues that the plea bargain is cause for discipline under section 332.321.2(2), which allows discipline if: 

The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws . . . of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of [a dentist], for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or any offense involving moral turpitude[.]

Gardner argues that he was not actually guilty of the conduct to which he pled guilty.  However, section 332.321.2(2) does not require a showing of actual guilt.  It allows discipline on a showing that there has been a final adjudication of guilt.  

We examine the elements of Medicaid fraud to determine whether having been convicted of it is cause for discipline.  In re Duncan, 844 S.W.2d 443, 444-45 (Mo. banc 1992).  The Medicaid fraud statute, 42 U.S.C. section 1320a-7b(a)(2)(ii), provided:  

(a) Whoever -


 *   *   *


(2) at any time knowingly and willfully makes or causes to be made any false statement or representation of a material fact for use in determining rights to such benefit or payment, shall 

*   *   *

(ii) in the case of such a statement, representation, concealment, failure, conversion, or provision of counsel or assistance by any other person, be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon  conviction thereof fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned for not more than one year, or both. . . .

(Emphasis added.)  Under federal law, knowingly means actual knowledge of the information, deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information, or reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the information.  United States ex rel. Lamers v. City of Green Bay, 168 F.3d 1013 (7th Cir. 1999).  “Willfully” means that the act was committed voluntarily and purposely with the specific intent to do something the law forbids; that is, with the purpose either to disobey or disregard the law.  United States v. Davis, 132 F.3d 1092 (5th Cir. 1998).  

Medicaid fraud is reasonably related to a dentist’s qualifications because those qualifications include “good moral character.”  Section 332.131.  It is reasonably related to a dentist’s functions because those functions include operating an office in which dental services or dental operations of any kind are performed.  Section 332.071(10).  We conclude that Gardner’s conviction is cause to discipline him under section 332.321.2(2) for having been finally adjudicated guilty of an offense reasonably related to the qualifications and functions of a dentist.  

An essential element is one that must be present to prove every case.  State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1961).  Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another, in reliance on it, to part with some valuable thing belonging to him.  State ex rel. Williams v. Purl, 128 S.W. 196, 201 (Mo. 1910).   It always includes dishonesty, which is a lack of integrity or a disposition to defraud or deceive.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 333 (10th ed. 1993).  No one can be convicted of Medicaid fraud without the element of a knowing and willful false claim for Medicaid payment.  Therefore, fraud and dishonesty are essential elements of Medicaid fraud.  We conclude that Gardner’s conviction is cause to discipline him under section 332.321.2(2) for having been finally adjudicated guilty of an offense of which fraud and dishonesty are essential elements.  

Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything ‘done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.’  

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 

(Mo. banc 1929)).  Medicaid fraud is a base and vile act in violation of the rights of the people of the United States.  We conclude that Gardner’s conviction is cause to discipline him under 

section 332.321.2(2) for having been finally adjudicated guilty of an offense involving moral turpitude.  

II.  Underlying Conduct

The Board argues that Gardner is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(5) and (13), which allow discipline for:

(5) Incompetency, misconduct, gross negligence, fraud, misrepresentation or dishonesty in the performance of, or relating to one’s ability to perform, the functions or duties of [a dentist]; 

*   *   *

(13) Violation of any professional trust or confidence[.]

Incompetency is a general lack of, or a general lack of disposition to use, a professional ability.  Forbes v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 798 S.W.2d 227, 230 (Mo. App., W.D. 1990).  Misconduct means “the willful doing of an act with a wrongful intention[;] intentional wrongdoing.”  Missouri Bd. for Arch’ts, Prof’l Eng’rs & Land Surv’rs v. Duncan, No. AR-84-0239 (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Nov. 15, 1985) at 125, aff'd, 744 S.W.2d 524 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  Gross negligence is a deviation from the standard of care so egregious as to demonstrate a conscious indifference to a professional duty.  Id. at 533.  Misrepresentation is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent and purpose of deceit.  MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 744 (10th ed. 1993).  Professional trust is a relationship that arises from reliance on the special knowledge and skills that professional licensure evidences.  Trieseler v. Helmbacher, 168 S.W.2d 1030, 1036 (Mo. 1943).

The Board relies solely on the plea bargain.  It argues that Gardner’s guilty plea conclusively proves that he committed Medicaid fraud.  We disagree.  A finding of guilt is hearsay, which is ordinarily inadmissible to prove the truth of the matter.  Lewis v. Wahl, 

842 S.W.2d 82, 94, n.5 (Mo. banc 1992) (Thomas, J., concurring).  A guilty plea is also hearsay,

but is admissible as an admission against interest.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 

(Mo. 1967).  It is evidence of the facts charged.  Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).  However, it is not conclusive evidence.  A guilty plea is evidence for us to weigh, along with other evidence.  Such other evidence includes any explanation for the guilty plea that Gardner has to offer.  The issue of whether Gardner committed the conduct with which he was charged remains an issue of fact for us to decide, as we have consistently held.  Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d at 190.

Gardner has maintained consistently, and testified without contradiction, that he committed no Medicaid fraud.  He admits that the billing error occurred, but states that he only pleaded guilty as part of the plea bargain.  His testimony and other evidence is credible, and on that basis we have found that he did not even know about the billing error until it was corrected. 


Therefore, we conclude that Gardner is not subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(5) or (13).  

Summary


Gardner is subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(2). 
 Gardner is not subject to discipline under section 332.321.2(5) or (13).


SO ORDERED on October 3, 2000.



________________________________



WILLARD C. REINE



Commissioner

�Statutory references are to the 1994 Revised statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�See, e.g., State Bd. of Optometry v. Patterson, Case No. 96-0413 BO (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n 


May 22, 1996); Director of Dep’t of Public Safety v. Cowan, Case No. 99-0093 PO (Mo. Admin. Hearing Comm’n Feb. 9, 2000).
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